IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

No. SC 05-1018

PAUL ALFRED BROWN,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA, Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR CITRUS COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Carol C. Rodriguez Assistant CCRC Florida Bar No. 931720 Capital Collateral Regional Counsel - Middle Region 3801 Corporex Park Dr. Ste. 210 Tampa, Florida 33619-1136 (813) 740-3544 Counsel for Appellant

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On February 19, 1987, the jury recommended death by a vote of 7 to 5, the court accepted the recommendation and then imposed a death sentence. The Judgment and Sentence was entered in and for the Thirteenth Judicial Circuit in and for Hillsborough County on March 3, 1987.

Mr. Brown unsuccessfully took a direct appeal from the judgment of conviction and imposition of death sentence. <u>Brown v. State</u>, 565 So.2d 304 (Fla. 1990). Rehearing was denied on June 11, 1990. A petition for Writ of Certiorari was filed on November 26, 1990, and denied by the United States Supreme Court. <u>Brown v.</u> Florida, 111 S.Ct. 537, 498 U.S. 992 (1990).

Mr. Brown filed two rule 3.850 motions in 1992. Public records litigation pursuant to Chapter 119, Florida Statutes, was ongoing in this case. On October 12, 1994, the Circuit Court granted Brown=s motion to disqualify the Hillsborough County State Attorneys Office due to a potential conflict as Brown=s former defense counsel had become employed there as an Assistant State Attorney. The State appealed, and this Court quashed the order without opinion on January 31, 1995.

Mr. Brown filed his Third amended Rule 3.850 motion in 1996. The Circuit Court summarily denied twelve of Brown=s sixteen claim in order filed on November 12, 1996. (ROA.,Vol. III, pp. 298-355). An evidentiary hearing was held on March

1

3, 1997. The court issued an order on April 8, 1997 denying relief on all four claims taken up at the evidentiary hearing.(ROA.,Vol. III, pp.449-453) This Court affirmed the lower court ruling. <u>State v. Brown</u>, 755 So. 2d 616 (2000). Mr. Brown filed a post-conviction motion for relief and habeas petition. This court denied relief. <u>State v. Brown</u>, 848 So. 2d 1114 (2003).

On September 9, 2001, Mr. Brown filed a Successor Motion To Vacate Sentence and To Declare a Provision of Florida Statute 921.137 Unconstitutional as the Florida Statute did not apply retroactively to bar the execution of mentally retarded individuals. Circuit Judge Rex A. Barbas granted an Evidentiary Hearing. Mr. Brown filed supplemental authority citing <u>Atkins v. Virginia</u>, 122 S.Ct. 2242, 536 U.S. 304(2002) on the issue of his mental retardation. On December 12, 2001, a Federal Habeas ' 2254 Petition for Paul Alfred Brown was filed with the Federal District Court, Middle District of Florida in Case No. 8:01-cv-2374 and is pending final disposition of Mr. Brown=s state court claims.

While Mr. Brown=s Successor 3.850 Motion was pending, this Court, on its own motion, proposed Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure, 3.203 (Defendant=s/Prisoner/s Mental Retardation as Bar to Execution) and Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure Appellate Procedure 9.142 (c).(Appeal of Determination of Mental Retardation Claim) and it became effective on October 1, 2004.

At the time Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.203 became effective on

October 1, 2004, Mr. Brown had a pending a Successor Motion To Vacate Sentence and To Declare a Provision of Florida Statute 921.137 Unconstitutional on the Statute=s failure to provide retroactive application to mentally retarded defendants at post-conviction. Mr. Brown requested that the trial Court accept his pending motion for review under the provisions of Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.230(e) and rule based upon the provisions of the rule. Dr. Valerie McClain gave expert testimony in behalf of the Appellant/Defendant and Dr. Gregory Prichard testified for the Appellee/State of Florida on the issue of Paul Alfred Brown=s mental retardation. (S.ROA., Vol. 6, pp. 913-168) Mr. Brown=s Closing Arguments were filed on August 29, 2003 and a response to the State=s Addendum was expressly incorporated on October 3, 2003. (S. ROA., Vol. 1, pl. 169-209) The State also filed written closing. (S. ROA., Vol. 3, pp. 376-517).

On October 20, 2004 the parties appeared before the court for a final ruling. Instead, the Court on its own motion decided to appoint a third expert, Dr. Michael Maher, to evaluate and report on the issue of the Defendant=s mental retardation. Further testimony was heard on January 7, 2005 and February 18, 2005. (S. ROA., Vol. 6, pp. 838-971, pp. 972-1041, Vol. 7, pp. 1042-1138)

On April 22, 2005, the Circuit Court issued an order Denying the Successor Motion to Vacate Sentence and to Declare a Provision of Florida Statute '921.137 Unconstitutional without any reference to <u>Fla. R. Crim. P</u>. 3.203. This matter is properly before this Court on appeal. (S.ROA. Vol. V, pp. 778-782).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Mr. Brown asserts that his conviction and sentence of death are the result of violations of the Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution and the corresponding provisions of the Florida Constitution for each of the following reasons: 1) The trial courts finding that Paul Alfred Brown is not mentally retarded is not supported by competent and substantial evidence in the record. 2) Mr. Brown has established by clear and convincing evidence that prior to attaining age 18 his intellectual functioning was determined to be in the significantly sub-average range on recognized intelligence tests and that concurrent deficits in his adaptive functioning were manifest. 3) Mr. Brown produced evidence at the evidentiary hearing which established that he meets the legal criteria of mental retardation as set forth in Florida Statute '921.137, and Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.203, when read along with the decision of the U.S. Supreme Court in Atkins v. Virginia, 122 S.Ct. 2242, 536 U.S. 304 (2002) 4) Mr. Brown has established beyond a reasonable doubt that mental retardation and mental illness can co-exist. He has established that he is mentally retarded and has superimposed mental illnesses. 5) Mr. Brown is entitled to relief under Atkins v. Virginia, supra. in which the Court held that the execution of the mentally retarded constitutes cruel and unusual punishment under the Eighth Amendment. Mr. Brown, like the defendant in Atkins, has been determined to be

Amildly mentally retarded.[@] 6) Any requirement that Mr. Brown establish his mental retardation by a standard of clear and convincing evidence is unconstitutional.

ARGUMENT I

THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN FINDING BY CLEAR AND CONVINCING EVIDENCE THAT MR BROWN FAILED TO ESTABLISH MENTAL RETARDATION

The lower courts denial of Mr. Browns mental retardation claim is not supported by substantial and competent evidence in the record and should not be affirmed by this Courts de-novo review. Affirming the imposition of a death sentence in this case upon a man who is brain damaged, mentally ill, and mentally retarded violates Art. I Section 17 of Floridas Constitution and corresponding provisions in the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments to the U.S. Constitution that prohibits cruel and unusual punishment.

Dr. Valerie McClain, Ph.D., a neuropsychologist, testified at Evidentiary Hearing regarding Paul Brown^s mental capabilities. In defining mental retardation, she referenced statutory definitions and also definitions provided by the Office of Developmental Services. Dr. McClain testified that the criteria for being termed as AMentally Retarded@requires a score that is two or more standard deviations from the mean on an individually administered intelligence assessment instrument and demonstrated significant deficits in adaptive behavior skills.

Associated with the intelligence testing is a margin of error plus or minus 5 points. Therefore, Dr. McClain explained that an individual scoring 70 to 75 points on the approved testing instruments can be diagnosed as mentally retarded. (S.ROA, Vol. 6, pp. 853,854) Dr. McClain also testified that adaptive behavior skills refer to socialization, communication, or the ability to manage their daily living skills and that deficits in these areas have to manifest prior to a person-s 18th birthday. (S.ROA, Vol. 6, p. 850) Florida-s statutory definition coincides with the diagnosis as described in the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual Of Mental Disorders-Text Revision (DSM-IV TR)(4th ed. 1994), published by the American Psychiatric Association that is a diagnostic and statistical manual used by psychiatrists and psychologists to diagnose mental retardation and that is also used by practitioners with regard to the selection of the instruments to measure specific ability, such as intelligence, adaptive functioning and academic performance. (S.ROA, Vol. 6, p. 850,851). Dr. McClain found Paul Brown to be mentally retarded. (S.ROA, Vol. 6, p. 908).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The undersigned counsel is unaware that this Court previously addressed whether a mental retardation claim is subject to the substantial and competent evidence standard of review, or is a mixed question of law requiring de-novo review. Since appellate review of this claim requires application of standards set forth the <u>Atkins</u> case, as well as provisions of Florida Statute '921.137 and Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.203¹, Mr. Brown urges this Court to conduct a de-novo review. Mr. Brown was convicted of first degree murder and death was imposed. Therefore, <u>Fla. Crim. Rule P.</u> 3.203 applies to his case. The definition contained in the section (b) of the rule should be applied to Mr. Brown=s case to determine the issue of his mental retardation.

<u>Circuit Court Determination Erroneous</u>

The circuit court was requested to apply <u>Fla</u>. <u>R</u>. <u>Crim</u>. <u>P</u>. 3.203 to this case but did not do so or provide a reason for not applying this rule to the case. The order issued by the court did not fully address all the evidence presented at evidentiary hearing by Mr. Brown and the brevity of it precludes this court from meaningful appellate review.

¹Rule 3.203. DEFENDANTS MENTAL RETARDATION AS A BAR TO IMPOSITION OF THE DEATH PENALTY.

3.203(a) <u>Scope</u>. This rule applies in all first-degree murder cases in which the state attorney has not waived the death penalty on the record and the defendant=s mental retardation becomes an issue.

3.203(b) Definition of Mental Retardation. As used in this rule, the term Amental retardation@ means significantly sub-average general intellectual functioning existing concurrently with deficits in adaptive behavior and manifested during the period from conception to age 18. The term "significantly sub-average general intellectual functioning, Afor the purpose of this rule, means performance that is two or more standard deviations from the mean score on a standardized intelligence test specified in the rules of the Department of Children and Family Services in rule 65B-4.032 of the Florida Administrative Code. The term "adaptive behavior," for the purpose of this definition, means the effectiveness or degree with which an individual meets the standards of personal independence and social responsibility expected of his or her age, cultural group, and community.

The trial court erred by stating that Florida Statute requires an IQ score of 70 or less for a finding of mental retardation. The trial court order states that Florida Statute, Section 921.137 Asuggests a three prong test to determine whether a defendant is mentally retarded. Prong one requires an IQ of 70 or less@. (S.ROA, Vol. 5, p. 778-782, Order Denying Relief, April 22, 2005, p. 779). The Statute does not require that an IQ must fall at 70 or below as stated by the court but requires Atwo or more standard deviations from the mean score on a standardized intelligence test specified in the rules of the Department of Children and Family Services. Fla. Stat. 921.137 (2003) The distinction is important because there is not a specified number. Experts at Paul Brown-s evidentiary hearing identified the DSM-IV-TR as the diagnostic manual used by experts in treating and diagnosing mental retardation and explained that while it adopts the two standard deviation cut off the manual also instructs that a standard error of measure plus or minus five (5) points applies. Therefore, an individual scoring between 70 and 75 can be diagnosed as mentally retarded. (EH. 16) In Atkins, the United States Supreme Court cited with approval an IQ range of 70 to 75 for the intellectual functioning prong in defining mental retardation excluding margin of error. Atkins, 122 S.Ct, at 2245. Paul Brown has scored two standard deviations below the mean on three Wechsler Intelligence Tests as defined in F.S. '921.137 in 2001, 2003, and 2004. Paul Brown also scored a 72 on a Wechsler Intelligence Test at age 10 in 1960. Mr. Brown-s score on the 1960

test is of great significance because it establishes the onset of significant sub average intellectual functioning prior to age 18. The court did not address the evidence presented relevant to this specific test arbitrarily dismissing Paul Brown=s initial IQ score of 72 and testimony from all experts that this score is within the accepted IQ range for diagnosing mental retardation.

The trial court erred when it stated that ADrs. Prichard and Maher each tested the Defendant and found that the recent IQ scores suggesting a range of mild mental retardation were a result of malingering." This conclusion is refuted by the record. (S.ROA, Vol. 5, p. 778-782, Circuit Court-s Order Denying Relief, April 22, 2005, p. 780). Dr. Prichard described Mr. Brown as anxious at the time of testing and testified that some responses given by Brown made him suspect malingering. Dr. Prichard=s testimony regarding malingering was based entirely upon Brown=s hesitancy in responding to questions and not upon the results of any testing. Although available, Dr. Prichard never administered objective tests to determine if Paul Brown was malingering or not. (S.ROA, Vol. 6, p. 988). Dr. Maher agreed that there are some tests that can pretty clearly establish the presence of malingering. (S.ROA, Vol. 6, p. 1076.) Neither expert, Prichard or Maher, ever tested Paul Brown to clinically assess malingering. Dr. Maher testified that the Adata in the test does not directly support the conclusion that (Paul Brown) gave less than full effort@. (S.ROA, Vol. 6, p. 1077).

The trial courts finding that both experts Prichard and Maher tested Mr. Brown

and found the mild mental retardation scores are the result of malingering is clearly erroneous. Neither expert tested Mr. Brown for malingering and the single objective test given to Paul Brown by Dr. Valerie McClain directly refutes this conclusion.

Dr. McClain testified at evidentiary hearing that there are 16 indicators used to clinically assess for malingering, and that she did test Paul Brown. The objective test results she obtained do <u>not</u> support malingering. (S.ROA, Vol. 6, pp. 907,908). Dr. Maher confirmed that the result of the Rey 15 Test administered by Dr. McClain indicated that there was no malingering. (S.ROA, Vol. 6, p. 1080). Therefore, there is no evidence in the record to support the lower court=s erroneous conclusion. <u>Fla. Stat.</u> §921.137 and <u>Fla. R. Crim. P.</u> 3.203 refer to scores on standardized intelligence tests, not subjective recomputations by expert witnesses, which should not be considered by this Court in conducting the required de novo review. There is ample objective evidence in the record, of the type contemplated in <u>Fla. Stat.</u> § 921.137 and <u>Fla. R. Crim. P.</u> 3.203 to establish by a preponderance of the evidence that Mr. Brown has significant sub-average intellectual functioning.

The trial court erred in the order denying relief filed on April 22, 2005 by equating intellectual testing with adaptive functioning in terms of making reference to significant discrepancies between the two when evaluating evidence of Paul Brown=s mental retardation. The court stated **A**Dr. McClain=s report of Defendant=s adaptive functioning indicates that the Defendant would be classified as mentally retarded@ and cites this as an Ainconsistency@ with Dr. McClain=s final determination that Paul Brown is Amildly mentally retarded@ (S.ROA, Vol. 5, p. 778-782). Dr. McClain explained that adaptive functioning as opposed to intellectual functioning are two separable areas and testified that you (experts evaluating an individual for mental retardation) dont equate intellectual testing with adaptive functioning in terms of making reference to significant discrepancies between the two. (S.ROA, Vol. 6, p. 806). While the adaptive functioning scores placed Paul Brown in the severely retarded range based upon the *Vineland*, his intelligence testing shows Paul Brown to be in the mildly retarded range. (S.ROA, Vol. 6, pp. 902,903). Paul Brown-s adaptive functioning level was based upon a clinical opinion when looking at his environment from conception to age 18. Review of academic records, interviews with teachers and relatives, his daily living activities during this period, and consideration of his severely abusive environment. (S.ROA, Vol. 6, pp. 907,908). Dr. McClain testified that a clinical decision was subsequently made based upon the criteria of mental retardation looking at adaptive functioning in conjunction with intellectual functioning. (S.ROA, Vol. 6, p. 908).

All experts testified that a diagnosis of mental retardation cannot be made based upon either intellectual or adaptive functioning <u>alone</u> as each is <u>individually evaluated</u>. The court overlooked or ignored expert testimony that psychologists don=t equate intellectual testing with adaptive functioning in terms of making reference to significant discrepancies between the two for the purposes of making a diagnosis of mental retardation. Thus the lower court=s evaluation was flawed.

The trial court stated that **A**Dr. McClain relies very heavily on the language of the rule regarding the onset of mental deficits prior to age 18, ignoring the fact that mental deficits must manifest by age 18 and exist presently[®]. (S.ROA, Vol. 5, p. 778-782, Order Denying Relief, April 22, 2005, pp. 779, 780). The definition of mental retardation in <u>Fla</u>. <u>R</u>. <u>Crim</u>. <u>P</u>. 3.203(b) is **A**significantly sub-average general intellectual functioning existing concurrently with deficits in adaptive behavior and manifested during the period from conception to age 18[®]. It is identical to <u>Fla</u>. <u>Stat</u>.' 921.137 (1) that defines mental retardation as **A**significantly sub-average general intellectual functioning existing concurrently with deficits in adaptive behavior and manifested during the period from conception to age 18[®]. Dr. McClain referred to Mr. Brown-s early history to establish that his mental retardation manifested prior to age 18 as required by rule and Florida Statute.

Intelligence tests administered in 2001, 2003 and 2004 by Drs. McClain, Prichard and Maher confirm significant sub-average intellectual functioning and deficits in adaptive functioning that were also noted by Dr. Berland, Dr. Afield and Dr. Prichard post age 18. This information was adopted by Dr. McClain in rendering a clinical opinion in this case. In order to establish that Paul Brown meets the criteria for a diagnosis of mental retardation, Dr. McClain properly evaluated the records for evidence of onset prior to age 18.

In critiquing Dr. McClain=s opinion the court stated that her opinion was flawed as she reached it **A**ignoring the fact that mental deficits must manifest by age 18 and exist presently@. (S.ROA, Vol. 5, p. 778-782, Order Denying Relief, April 22, 2005, pp. 779,780). The wording **A**existing presently@ is not included in the statute or the rule, or in the Atkins opinion for the obvious reason that the relevant period is at or nea4r the time of the homicide and trial. The court=s adoption of this additional language demonstrates a misunderstanding of the dictates imposed by the statute regarding the onset period when concurrent deficits in adaptive skills and significantly sub-average intellectual functioning must manifest.

In denying relief the trial court stated, **A**Dr. Prichard explained that due to the fact that Defendant=s present adaptive functioning did not meet the criteria for mental retardation, there was no need to address the third prong of the test for retardation.@ (the third prong referred to is that statutory requirement for the onset of deficits to be established prior to age 18). (S.ROA, Vol. 5, p. 778-782, Order Denying Relief, April 22, 2005, p. 780). The Circuit Court misunderstood Dr. Prichard=s testimony at evidentiary hearing. Dr. Prichard testified that in this case, it simply wasn=t necessary for him to conduct interviews with individuals that knew Mr. Brown prior to age 18, **A**because I had so much data when Mr. Brown was an adult that said intellectually he=s not below 70. So **Y** if that=s demonstrated there=s really no need to get the adaptive

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