IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

PAUL ALFRED BROWN,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC05-1018

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

\_\_\_\_\_/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE THIRTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROBERT J. LANDRY Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar I.D. No. 0134101 Concourse Center #4 3507 Frontage Road, Suite 200 Tampa, Florida 33607 Phone: (813) 287-7910 Fax: (813) 281-5501

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

#

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

Dr. Maher similarly concluded that Appellant Brown did not satisfy the adaptive functioning deficits criteria for a mental retardation diagnosis. While he did not do specific testing, he reviewed that through his interview and testing done by others. Dr. Maher opined that there had been periods of time when Mr. Brown's adaptive functioning was at a low level and other significant periods of time in the several years prior to this arrest for this murder where his level of adaptive functioning was above a level that would be expected for an individual who was mentally retarded. Dr. Maher concluded that his level of adaptive functioning does <u>not</u> support the conclusion that he is mentally retarded (V6, R.1010-1012; see also State Exhibit 1 at Supp. V1, R.169).

In contrast, the testimony of Dr. McClain, which was rejected by the lower court, was that she did not administer any adaptive functioning test at the time of her interview with Mr. Brown (V3, R.414, 434). She performed a Vineland with respondent step-brother Daniel Jackson on May 5, 2003, but she did not qualify it as being a valid Vineland because of the excessive "I don't know" responses (V3, R.420). She interviewed Appellant's brother Jimmy and a former teacher Ms. McDonald. The McDonald interview was inadequate to form a conclusion since she couldn't comment on enough areas. The findings on the interview with Jimmy Brown placed Appellant in the low adaptive level range (V3, R.420-422). The score she achieved when performing the Vineland on Jimmy Brown was a standard score of 29 - within the range of severe retardation (V3, R.444). His score would be five standard deviations from the mean (V3, R.446). Dr. McClain admitted that Mr. Brown had had a four or five year intimate relationship with Fannie James (V3, R.447). She opined that as to interpersonal relationships, Mr. Brown functioned as a one year eleven month old and as to play and leisure he functions as a nine month old infant (V3, R.451).

# (3) Onset by age 18 prong:

Dr. Prichard testified that the third element required for a mental retardation diagnosis was that the individual must manifest his deficits prior to the age of eighteen and be presently existing (V3, R.465). See also DSM-IV-TR, p.49. Dr.

Prichard further explained that it was unnecessary to make further inquiry into the onset by age eighteen prong since he had so much data when Mr. Brown was an adult that intellectually he was not below 70 (V3, R.501-502).

Dr. Maher concluded that Mr. Brown's deficits that were apparent prior to age eighteen were caused by other factors, not mental retardation (V6, R.1013-1014).

Appellant's complaint - that the trial court's assertion that the first prong of a mental retardation determination "requires an IQ of 70 or less" is erroneous - is meritless. See Zack v. State, 911 So. 2d 1190, 1201 (Fla. 2005)(finding that in order to be exempt from execution under Atkins, a defendant must meet Florida's standard for mental retardation, which requires he establish that he has an IQ of 70 or below), cited in Hill v. State, 921 So. 2d 579 (Fla. 2006); Rodriguez v. State, 919 So. 2d 1252, n.8 (Fla. 2005)(reciting that "According to the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, mental retardation is 'characterized by significantly subaverage intellectual functioning {an IQ of approximately 70 or below} with onset before age 18 years and concurrent deficits or impairments in adaptive functioning.'"); see also Johnston v. State, supra.

Appellant criticizes the trial court for accepting Dr. Prichard's and Dr. Maher's findings on malingering. The lower court alluded in footnotes 1 and 2 of his Order to their

supporting testimony (V5, R.780). Dr. Prichard explained that he became wary when Mr. Brown seemed not to be working as quickly as he could on the performance measures, e.g., Appellant was unusual in taking a long time to respond to four digits stated to him. Typically when someone is trying to perform optimally they tell you right away because that is information one puts in immediate memory. Notably, Mr. Brown's score was not an accurate assessment when comparing results on Dr. Prichard's test to prior testing results. In this regard Dr. Prichard noted testing by Dr. Dee in 1993 indicated a performance IQ of 93 with a full scale IQ of 83 on the Wechsler Scales. As for the twenty point decline in performance and fifteen point decline in full scale IQ score, "Intelligence doesn't change that way." (V3, R.468-470). Mr. Brown's performance was peculiar; while he was anxious, anxiety isn't necessarily going to create a response latency. Moreover, Mr. Brown's responses did not seem honest. When asked about delusions, Appellant indicated that he was afraid someone was contaminating his food and that he skipped approximately one meal per week because he felt it was contaminated or poisoned. This was significant because a delusion is a fixed, false belief - it does not come on Wednesday at lunchtime. It stays with a person and attacks on his daily function. This was not an endorsement or description of delusional ideation. If truly delusional, you would expect him to skip numerous meals.

Furthermore, Dr. Berland's reports in April of 1986 and February of 1987 indicate malingering, i.e., he was endorsing symptoms that were false, that psychotic individuals don't endorse (V3, R.471-472).

Dr. Maher gave similar testimony. When asked by defense counsel whether Mr. Brown made an acceptable effort on the testing, Dr. Maher answered:

> I think that my testing results in a lower score than represents his true intelligence, <u>because he did not make a full effort</u>. That would be my testimony. (emphasis supplied)(V7, R.1077)

Dr. Maher expanded on his testimony, noting that Mr. Brown's score was not a reasonably accurate reflection of his fundamental intelligence because of other compounding factors (V7, R.1077). Dr. Maher added:

> I do not believe he gave full effort on Α. think he was it. Т aware of the circumstances of the testing and aware that performing well on the testing was to some extent contrary to his self-interest. I do not believe that he specifically gave wrong answers when he knew correct answers. Nor do I have any evidence that he refused to give an answer when he had in mind an answer.

> But it is my opinion that he did not give full effort and had he given full effort, he would have performed better. Q. That's why you believe it is more accurate that the defendant's IQ is in the 75 to 85 range? A. That's correct.

> > (V7, R.1090-

When asked why he felt Mr. Brown did not try his best, the witness answered he gave a lot of very quick "I don't know" responses and responded minimally but somewhat to encouragement which allowed the testing to continue. Dr. Maher noted that Dr. Prichard's assessment was "very similar to my conclusions and opinions. There was a lack of full effort." (V7, R.1092-1094).

Dr. Maher agreed that Dr. Berland had expressed the opinion that there was some exaggeration of Mr. Brown's self-report on the severity of his mental health symptoms (V7, R.1095-1096). Dr. Maher said that it is "not only a lack of willingness but a lack of effort" and:

> The intelligence test is a test that requires full effort in order to get the most accurate outcome. So even if a person isn't doing anything to fake or malinger a low score, a lack of full effort will give a less than accurate score, because it's a test which requires a full effort to get the most accurate outcome.

> > (V7,

R.1097)

1091)

The trial court's findings thus were not erroneous. Mr. Brown failed to give his best efforts as noted by Drs. Prichard and Maher (and others earlier). Any suggestion that there was insufficient competent evidence to support the trial court's finding, that Mr. Brown is not mentally retarded or that the lower court failed to consider all the evidence presented is without merit. Appellant presented only one live witness Dr.

Valerie McClain and as previously noted the lower court declined to credit her testimony which was contradicted by the State's expert Dr. Prichard and the court-appointed expert Dr. Maher. The court's conclusion was supported by other documentary evidence presented below. For example, State's Exhibit 9, the Hillsborough County School report in 1961 - when Mr. Brown was ten years old - noted that the WISC-C indicated a verbal scale score of 76, performance scale of 74 and full scale of 72 and commented that it was an index of current functioning not as a measure of innate capacity (V2, R.215). Obviously, his innate capacity would not be lesser than his current functioning. State's Exhibit 3, Dr. Dee's report of April 15, 1993, reported Mr. Brown's performance on the Wechsler as full scale IQ of 83, verbal IQ of 77 and a performance scale IQ of 92 (V2, R.226).

Dr. Berland's examination in 1986 on the Wechsler (State Exhibit 5, Supp. V1, R.51) yielded a verbal IQ of 75, performance IQ of 84 and full scale IQ of 81. Additionally, Dr. Berland's report of February 1, 1987 - State's Exhibit 4 - noted consistently with the views of Drs. Prichard and Maher "that his responses were not true and that they represented an effort to either partially or entirely fake symptoms of disturbance." (V2, R.365). See also Dr. Berland's testimony in earlier proceedings as to Mr. Brown's WAIS IQ scores (V4, R.634-635) and Mr. Brown's exaggeration and faking in his MMPI and interview results (V4, R.644-653). Department of Corrections records,

State Exhibits 7 and 8, describe Mr. Brown with average learning aptitude with less than average educational achievement. In the penalty phase of trial Dr. Walter Afield had described Appellant as "a guy with an IQ of about 80" (V4, R.674) and acknowledged that he thought it was accurate that Mr. Brown had faked in a rather primitive kind of way some of his responses in Dr. Berland's test (V4, R.677).

Mr. Brown seems to be critical of Dr. Prichard's use of the Scales of Independent Behavior Test (SIBR) for the adaptive behavior prong, noting that it is not one of the tests specified for use by the Department of Children and Families in Florida. While it is true that Florida Statute 921.137 and Rule 3.203 provide that the Department of Children and Family Service adopt rules to specify "the standard intelligence tests" there is no similar statutory or Rule 3.203 fiat that any particular test must be given to satisfy the adaptive functioning prong of the mental retardation test. Significantly, Appellant does not point to any testimony at the evidentiary hearing to refute or contradict Dr. Prichard's sworn testimony that the revised edition of SIBR came out in 1993, years after the statutory rules were handed down, that "It is one of the strongest tests for a measure of adaptive behavior than [sic] we have. It is recommended by AAMR. It's recommended in other professional literature regarding capital cases. It's statistically very, very strong." (V3, R.488-489). Dr. Prichard added that the top

three are Vineland, SIBR and the Association of Mental Retardation Adaptive Scales (V3, R.489).

Finally, Appellant contends that the experts are in agreement that a person can be diagnosed with mental retardation, mental illness and brain damage. While it may be true that the presence of one does not necessarily exclude the others, that fact avails the Appellant naught, for it is equally true that someone who has a mental illness and/or brain damage may yet still <u>not</u> be retarded – as the testimony of Drs. Prichard and Maher make clear about Appellant Brown.<sup>3</sup> Since the sole inquiry in this proceeding is whether Appellant is mentally retarded and thus his execution proscribed by <u>Atkins v.</u> <u>Virginia</u>, 536 U.S. 304 (2002), it matters not what other problems may exist since he is <u>not</u> mentally retarded.

Appellant claims that Dr. Prichard's report establishes deficits in Mr. Brown's adaptive functioning to support Dr. McClain's diagnosis of mild mental retardation and that he corroborates her diagnosis. Quite the opposite is true. Dr. Prichard administered the Vineland Adaptive Behavior Scales with Mr. Brown's ex-girlfriend with whom Appellant lived for five or six years prior to his incarceration on death row, that the Vineland is scored on the same numerical equivalent as the

 $<sup>^3</sup>$  As noted in this Court's prior decision <u>Brown v. State</u>, 755 So. 2d 616 (Fla. 2000) affirming the denial of post-conviction relief, a number of experts opined concerning Mr. Brown's alleged organic brain damage and other maladies. <u>Id</u>. at 632-

Wechsler Scale (a mean of 100 and standard deviation of 15; two standard deviations on both IQ score and adaptive behavior scales would correspond to 70) (V3, R.488, 491). In assessing Fannie James as a respondent for Mr. Brown he received a score of 84 in communication, score of 113 on daily living skills and score of 90 on socialization - a behavior composite score of all the skills of 93. (V3, R.491-492). This colloquy followed:

> Q. And that would not put him in the category of being mildly mentally retarded? A. <u>No, absolutely not. It's not even</u> <u>a standard deviation below the mean</u> and it's actually very consistent with the other testing, intellectual testing that I referenced. (V3, R.492)(emphasis supplied)

Dr. Prichard then explained the SIBR test he gave with death row floor Sergeant Young and with Appellant Brown as a respondent Sergeant Young indicated a motor skills standard score of 87, communication of 77, personal living of 85 and community living of 81. His broad independent score - a composite of all the adaptive skills - was 80. Mr. Brown <u>rated himself</u> a 78 on motor skills, 53 in communication, 64 in personal living, 54 in community living and broad independent score of 57. (V3, R.494). Although counsel for Mr. Brown cross-examined Dr. Prichard, there were no questions propounded as to the numbers and scores he received on his Adaptive Functioning Tests. (V3,

636.

R.500-512). Since Dr. Prichard's testimony clearly demonstrates his conclusion that Paul Brown is not mentally retarded, it is staggering to suggest that his views corroborate Dr. McClain who opined that Mr. Brown's adaptive functioning score was 29 (V3, R.444), that he functioned as a one-year eleven-month old in interpersonal relationships (although he had lived with Fannie James for five or six years prior to incarceration) and functions as a nine-month old infant. (V3, R.451).

As to Dr. Prichard's written report, Dr. Prichard opined that "Paul's functional independence is limited to ageappropriate; his performance is comparable to that of the average individual at age 15 years 10 months (15-10). This is within the low average range of scores obtained by others at his age level, as shown by his percentile rank (9) and standard score (80)."<sup>4</sup> (V2, R.265).

As to Appellant's assertion that the statutory provision of F.S. 921.137 requiring proof of mental retardation by clear and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Dr. Prichard has far more experience than Dr. McClain. He has been working in the field of mental retardation since 1994, has testified in court approximately 150-200 times, and has administered the Vineland Adaptive Functioning Test around three hundred times. He has testified in ten capital cases at trial, three involving post-sentence relief and eight cases are pending. (V3, R.461-463). Dr. McClain's testimony in death penalty cases has been "approximately two times," she has not previously testified regarding mental retardation in any capital case, had evaluated an individual for mental retardation in capital cases "approximately four times" and has administered the Vineland about twenty times. (V3, R.393-394).

convincing evidence to obtain relief is unconstitutional, Appellee answers that the claim must be rejected. In his motion in the lower court Appellant contended that F.S. 921.137(8) which provides that the act is inapplicable to a defendant sentenced to death prior to the effective date of the act violated the equal protection clause and that that section was severable from the remaining sections (V1, R.18-19, 31-32). Mr. Brown did <u>not</u> in his motion or memorandum argue that the clear and convincing burden of proof standard was unconstitutional. Nor did he raise a constitutional challenge to the clear and convincing standard in his first post-hearing memorandum of law (V1, R.169-209). He did not mention such a challenge until his Final Closing Argument in march of 2005 (V5, R.727). His untimely assertion should be deemed procedurally barred.

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